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NOTICE OF FILING FILED



IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 
COUNTY DEPARTMENT, LAW DIVISION 

 
PATRICE NELSON, a Personal  ) 
Representative of the Estate of   ) 
JACQUELINE NELSON, GEORGES   ) 
MICO NELSON, DVM, individually and ) 
as sole residuary beneficiary of the Estate  ) 
of JACQUELINE NELSON   ) 
      ) 
  Plaintiffs,   ) Case No. 2017 L 8151 
      ) 
v.      ) 
      ) 
KATTEN MUCHIN ROSENMAN LLP, ) JURY DEMANDED 
WILLIAM J. DORSEY, COWEN,  ) 
LEIBOWITZ & LATMAN, P.C.,  ) 
ROBERT GIORDANELLA, and THE  ) 
GEORGE NELSON FOUNDATION,  ) 
      ) 
  Defendants.   )  
    

AMENDED COMPLAINT 
 

 NOW COME Plaintiffs, PATRICE NELSON , in her capacity as Personal 

Representative of the ESTATE OF JACQUELINE NELSON, and GEORGES MICO 

NELSON, DVM, individually, and  as the sole residuary beneficiary of the Estate of 

Jacqueline Nelson (“Mico”), and for their Amended Complaint against Defendants 

KATTEN MUCHIN ROSENMAN LLP, WILLIAM J. DORSEY (collectively “Dorsey”), 

COWEN, LEIBOWITZ & LATMAN, P.C., ROBERT GIORDANELLA (collectively 

“Giordanella”), and THE GEORGE NELSON FOUNDATION (hereinafter “Nelson 

Foundation”), state as follows.  
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 2 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

 This case arises from Dorsey’s conflicted representation that resulted in 

Plaintiffs’ loss of valuable intellectual property rights and/or interests.  Dorsey 

represented the interests of both the Plaintiffs and the Nelson Foundation and 

undertook actions that led to the transfer of all the valuable intellectual property rights 

and/or interests that Jacqueline Nelson inherited from her late husband George Nelson 

to third-parties with no corresponding benefit to Plaintiffs.  At the outset of Dorsey’s 

representation, Jacqueline owned the rights to and/or interests in certain of George 

Nelson’s intellectual property.   

At the conclusion of the Defendants’ representation, Jacqueline owned none of 

the rights and/or interests in the George Nelson IP and received inadequate 

consideration in return for them.  The Nelson Foundation provided the vehicle for this 

wrongful transfer and was complicit in allowing transfers to be made to it and to third 

parties.  Dorsey failed to advise Plaintiffs of their intellectual property rights, failed to 

advise Plaintiffs of their rights against Modernica and, inter alia, negligently allowed the 

rights and interests of the Plaintiffs to be improperly transferred.  Giordanella, who was 

additional counsel for Jacqueline, also failed to take the appropriate steps to protect 

Plaintiffs intellectual property rights and negligently allowed those rights and/or 

interests to be transferred without adequate consideration.  
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 3 

PARTIES AND JURISDICTION 

 1.  Patrice Nelson (“Patrice”) is a resident of the Town of Newburgh, 

County of Penobscot, State of Maine.  Patrice is the court-appointed Personal 

Representative of the Estate of Jacqueline Nelson. 

 2. Georges Michel Nelson (“Mico”) is a resident of the Town of Newburgh, 

County of Penobscot, State of Maine.  He is the only son of Jacqueline Nelson and is the 

sole residuary beneficiary of the Estate of Jacqueline Nelson. 

 3. At all relevant times herein, Jacqueline Nelson was in her nineties and did 

not have mental capacity to handle her own affairs.  She was declared incompetent by 

order of the Penobscot Probate Court in Bangor, Maine, on September 30, 2014.  She 

suffered from debilitating physical conditions and diminished mental capacity.  

Jacqueline Nelson died on December 6, 2017. 

 4. Katten Muchin Rosenman LLP (“Katten Muchin”) is a law firm with 

offices in Cook County, IL. 

 5. William Dorsey is an attorney licensed in Illinois whose practice is based 

in Cook County, IL.  At all times relevant, Dorsey was a shareholder and acting as an 

agent and representative of Katten Muchin. 

 6. Cowan, Liebowitz & Latman, P.C. is a law firm based in New York, New 

York.  Cowan has national clients and has transacted business in Illinois. 

 7. Robert Giordanella is an attorney licensed in New York, New York.  At 

all times relevant, Giordanella was a shareholder and acting as an agent and 

representative of Cowan. 

E
L

E
C

T
R

O
N

IC
A

L
LY

 F
IL

E
D

4/
17

/2
01

8 
5:

24
 P

M
4/

17
/2

01
8 

5:
24

 P
M

4/
17

/2
01

8 
5:

24
 P

M
4/

17
/2

01
8 

5:
24

 P
M

20
17

-L
-0

08
15

1
20

17
-L

-0
08

15
1

20
17

-L
-0

08
15

1
20

17
-L

-0
08

15
1

PA
G

E
 3

 o
f 

40



 4 

8. The Giordanella Defendants have transacted business with Illinois 

residents and availed themselves of the Illinois courts by inter alia: 

a. appearing in multiple litigation matters in the Northern District of 

Illinois since 2011, including: Independent Graphic Services, Inc. 

v. Superior Printing Inc., Co., 11-cv-8241 (N.D. Ill.); Interchem 

Corp. USA, et al, v. Prompt Praxis Labs, LLC, et al, 13-cv-5501 

(N.D. Ill.); Varsity Spirit LLC et al, v. Varsity View, LLC, et al, 16-

cv-1305 (N.D. Ill.); and DRL Enterprises, Inc. v. North Atlantic 

Operating Co., Inc., 16-cv-8384 (N.D. Ill.);  

b. regularly corresponding and communicating with Illinois 

attorneys, including Katten Muchin and Dorsey during the 

pendency of the underlying proceedings; 

c. appearing in several litigation-related mediations since 2014; and 

d. traveled to the State of Illinois at least 8 times in the last 5 years for 

litigation and/or client-related matters. 

9. Plaintiffs’ claims against Giordanella arise directly from their conduct and 

transacting of business with Illinois residents, including communicating and conferring 

with Dorsey and Katten Muchin, for the purposes of their representation of Plaintiffs in 

the underlying matter. 

10. The Nelson Foundation is a Michigan corporation with its principal place 

of business in Zeeland, Michigan.  The Nelson Foundation transacts business in Illinois 

and is represented by Illinois attorneys. 
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11. This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 735 ILCS Section 

5/2-209(a)(1) and (a)(2). Defendants have transacted business in Cook County, Illinois. 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL COUNTS 

I. George Nelson Builds a Legacy 

 12. George Nelson is a famous American industrial designer and one of the 

founding fathers of American Modernism.  During his lifetime, he created many of the 

20th century’s most iconic modern furniture designs.  George Nelson has been the 

subject and author of several books on iconic American design.  He built considerable 

goodwill during his lifetime in the George Nelson name, likeness, designs, and 

associated trademarks, including, without limitation, registered and common-law rights 

in the GEORGE NELSON, NELSON,  BUBBLE LAMPS, and other trademarks and trade 

dress associated with the Nelson-designed Bubble Lamps and other Nelson designs (the 

“Nelson Trademarks”).  See, without limitation, the items listed on Exhibits A and B, in 

addition to the other trademarks. 

13. The George Nelson legacy and brand remains strong today, with many 

original George Nelson-designed products bearing the Nelson Trademarks currently 

being offered for sale in high-end modern art and furniture stores, at auctions, and in 

museum stores, including The Museum of Modern Art in New York.  Many iconic 

George Nelson designs for furniture and home accessories are currently being 

manufactured, marketed and sold in the United States and Europe. 

 14. George Nelson died on March 5, 1986.  Upon his death, his widow, 

Jacqueline Nelson, inherited the intellectual property rights and/or interests that George 
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 6 

Nelson held at the time of his death (the “Nelson IP”), which he had accumulated 

throughout his distinguished life of achievement and recognition in modern American 

design.  Upon information and belief, the Nelson IP includes, without limitation,  

(i) all inventions (whether patentable or unpatentable and whether or not 
reduced to practice), all improvements thereto, and all letters patent and pending 
applications for patents, including all re-issuances, reexaminations, divisions, 
continuations, continuations-in-part, revisions, and extensions thereof; (ii) all 
trademarks (including, but not limited to, the Nelson Trademarks), service 
marks, trade dress, logos, slogans, trade names, corporate names, Internet 
domain names, rights in telephone numbers, and other indicia of origin, together 
with all translations, adaptations, derivations, and combinations thereof and all 
goodwill associated therewith; (iii) all moral rights and copyrights in any original 
work of authorship (including but not limited to furniture designs, publications 
etc.) and all applications, registrations, and renewals in connection therewith; (iv) 
all trade secrets and confidential information; (v) all furniture designs, lamp 
designs, clock designs, fireplace tool designs, planter designs and designs for 
room dividers (including without limitation the “Marshmallow sofa” and 
“Bubble lamp”); (vi) all ideas, concepts, discoveries, improvements, know-how, 
methods, formulas, compositions, processes, designs, models, innovations, 
protocols, systems, technical and other data, drawings and cost information, 
business and marketing plans and proposals, plans, procedures, strategies, 
methodologies and techniques, and any and all other intellectual property, 
materials, information and data; (vii) all copies and tangible embodiments of any 
of the foregoing (in whatever form or medium); and (viii) all proprietary rights 
in or to the foregoing, in each instance which were developed and/or owned by 
George Nelson and, upon George Nelson’s death, were acquired by Jacqueline 
through George Nelson’s estate. 
 

 15. Jacqueline resided in New York City from about 1960 until December of 

2012. 

II. Herman Miller Pushes to Form the George Nelson Foundation and uses the 
Head of its European Counterpart to Secure Jacqueline Nelson’s Support 
 

 16. On a number of occasions, beginning in approximately 2009, persons 

interested in acquiring or enforcing the Nelson IP, approached Jacqueline Nelson with 
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 7 

the concept of forming a nonprofit foundation to educate, exhibit, and advance the 

legacy of George Nelson’s contributions to American Modernism.  

17.   One of the interested entities, and an eventual leading force behind 

formation of “The George Nelson Foundation,” was a furniture manufacturer located in 

Michigan called Herman Miller, Inc. (“Herman Miller”).  Herman Miller manufactured 

furniture and sold certain George Nelson designs in the United States, and it paid 

royalties to Jacqueline in connection with the sale and/or licensing of those designs 

pursuant to an agreement. 

18. Another leading force behind formation of the “George Nelson 

Foundation” was a furniture manufacturer located in Switzerland, Vitra International 

AG and Vitra Museum (“Vitra”), which, upon information and belief, held certain rights 

to and/or interests in certain George Nelson designs and the GEORGE NELSON 

trademark in Europe and in the Middle East.  Vitra’s Chairman of the Board was Rolf 

Fehlbaum. 

19. Upon information and belief, Vitra has close business ties to Herman 

Miller and some employees of those companies have personal ties. 

 20. Jacqueline Nelson, by and through her counsel at the time, Attorney 

Philip Raible (“Raible”), reached out to Rolf Fehlbaum (“Fehlbaum”), who was a friend 

she trusted, by e-mail dated March 9, 2010, in which Raible disclosed that Jacqueline was 

“skeptical of the need for, and the purpose and viability of, such a Foundation.”  (Ex. 1). 

 21. Raible asked for an opportunity to discuss with Fehlbaum Jacqueline’s 

concerns about the formation of a foundation because Fehlbaum had also been contacted 
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 8 

by Herman Miller to participate in the formation and operation of the Nelson 

Foundation.  

22. Fehlbaum ignored Raible’s request for a conference and, instead, initiated 

discussions on March 21, 2010, directly with Jacqueline, outside of Raible’s presence, 

regarding the creation of the Nelson Foundation. (Ex. 2).  

23. On March 21, 2010, Fehlbaum reported to Brian Walker, the President 

and Chief Executive Officer of Herman Miller, as follows, in relevant part: 

Yesterday I had a telephone conversation with Jacqueline.  I informed her about 
our recent discussion.   
 
I understood that 
-she agrees in principle with the creation of a foundation 
-she does not feel the present proposal is well conceived. 
 
Her main critique is 
-the scope of the foundation activities has to correspond to the economical 
relevance of the work.  
 
It has to be much more modest than the ambitious Eames Foundation. Also it 
cannot touch royalties which are due to Jacqueline/Mico.  
 

(Ex. 2) (emphasis added).   

 24. In correspondence of July 29, 2010, Walker and Fehlbaum jointly wrote to 

Jacqueline to ask for her “support for the development of a George Nelson Foundation,” 

which they believed would “serve to protect, promote and extend the legacy of George 

Nelson’s work.”  They described the Nelson Foundation as having an “independent 

nature,” that would assist in protecting and promoting “the authenticity of our Nelson 

furniture products in the marketplace.” (Ex. 3). 
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 9 

 25.  However, in that July 29 correspondence, they also represented that, for 

her support of the development of the Nelson Foundation, “it is not necessary for you to 

make any legal transfer of rights.” 

26.  In reliance upon the representation that it “would not be necessary [] to 

make any legal transfer of rights,” Jacqueline responded to Brian Walker on August 9, 

2010, that she would add her support to the development of the Nelson Foundation and 

that she would consider it a privilege to serve as an honorary Board member.  

27. On or about February 11, 2011, the Nelson Foundation was established as 

a non-profit Michigan corporation, with Action by Written Consent of a sole 

Incorporator reflecting the corporation’s retention of the services of Karen Stein (through 

Karen D. Stein, LLC) (“Stein”) to act as the Executive Director of the corporation.   

 28. An initial Board of Directors was designated that included Stein, Ben 

Watson (the Executive Creative Director at Herman Miller), and Fehlbaum.  There was 

only one other director, the Chief Curator of Architecture and Design at The Museum of 

Modern Art in New York.  Stein, as Executive Director, was the voice of the Nelson 

Foundation.  

III. Dorsey is Retained to Protect and Enforce the Nelson IP 

29. In July of 2012, Stein came into contact with William Dorsey, “who is an 

avid George Nelson collector based in Chicago who also happens to be a lawyer 

specializing in intellectual property.”  (Ex. 4).   

 30. Dorsey offered legal assistance to the Nelson Foundation on a pro bono 

basis.  He knew the Foundation could benefit from his specialized legal experience and 
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 10 

knowledge on intellectual property matters, generally, and relating specifically to the 

Nelson IP.   

 31. On July 11, 2012, Dorsey wrote an e-mail recognizing Jaqueline Nelson’s 

rights to and/or interests in the Nelson IP.  Dorsey asserted in that e-mail that he did not 

want to do anything that would not benefit Jacqueline or the Nelson Foundation.   

 32. On August 23, 2012, Dorsey prepared a memorandum to Stein outlining 

his opinion of who owned the rights to and/or interests in certain of George Nelson’s 

intellectual property (“The Dorsey IP Memo”).  Dorsey did not send that memorandum 

to Jacqueline.  Dorsey’s analysis was that rights to and/or interests in George Nelson’s 

name belonged to George Nelson’s wife, Jacqueline, stating: 

It is our understanding that Jacqueline Nelson (“Ms. Nelson”) inherited the 
rights to the George Nelson name for home goods and design upon George 
Nelson’s death in 1986 pursuant to Mr. Nelson’s last will and testament.   
 

(Ex. 5). 
 
 33. The Dorsey IP Memo stated that Ms. Nelson was the rightful owner of the 

trademark GEORGE NELSON and recommended that the Nelson Foundation fight any 

ownership claimed by Modernica of the GEORGE NELSON mark.   

 34. Modernica was a California-based, high-end furniture manufacturer and 

a competitor of Herman Miller.  

 35. At no time, did Dorsey advise Jacqueline that she should fight any rights 

of ownership to the Nelson IP claimed by Modernica despite Dorsey believing and 

advising Jacqueline was the rightful owner.   
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 11 

 36. On September 20, 2012, Ben Watson, who was Herman Miller’s Executive 

Creative Director, e-mailed Dorsey supporting the issues set forth in Dorsey’s IP Memo.  

Watson supported Dorsey and the action. 

III. Jacqueline Nelson Falls Ill with Cancer and a Broken Leg, while Dorsey 
Assists Stein in Assigning Away the Nelson IP 

 
 37.  In or about January 2012, Jacqueline was diagnosed with bladder cancer 

and underwent surgery.  For much of the remainder of that year, Jacqueline was 

undergoing chemotherapy treatment and was very ill.   

 38. On November 26, 2012, in her weakened state, Jacqueline fell in her 

apartment in New York City and broke her right femoral neck.   

 39. As a result of that accident and other medical issues suffered by 

Jacqueline, and because of the impact of Hurricane Sandy on New York City’s medical 

facilities and their inability to provide the level of medical care Jacqueline needed, it was 

necessary for Mico and Patrice Nelson to move Jacqueline to Maine, where they could 

take care of her in her diminishing physical and mental capacities. 

 40. On October 24, 2012, before the move to Maine, Dorsey sent Stein an e-

mail with a draft assignment agreement (hereinafter, the “Nelson IP Assignment”) that 

was revised to address some concerns raised by Stein.  The concerns were not expressed 

in this e-mail, but the draft Assignment purported to move all of the Nelson IP to the 

Nelson Foundation, including diverting some of the Nelson family’s interests in 

royalties from Herman Miller. (Ex. 6). 
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 12 

 41. Dorsey then sent an e-mail to Stein stating that he believed the revisions 

addressed the “issues [Stein] raised.”  Although Dorsey says the Nelson IP Assignment 

did not revisit or modify the existing licenses, he added clauses that diverted 

Jacqueline’s royalties from Herman Miller to the Nelson Foundation.    

 42. Dorsey’s conflicted representation was admitted in the same e-mail, 

where he stated, 

Attached find a revised draft assignment agreement assigning the George Nelson 
Intellectual Property rights from Jaqueline Nelson to The George Nelson 
Foundation.  I believe the revised whereas clauses should address the issues you 
[Stein] raised. 
 
. . . [W]e made certain assumptions about the license agreements, including 
assuming they covered the products that Herman Miller and Vitra are currently 
selling, that the license agreements include royalty payments to Ms. Nelson and 
then her heirs or assigns, and that the license agreements may be assigned by Ms. 
Nelson.   

 
(Ex. 6). 

 
 43. On October 24, 2012, Stein, who knew that Jacqueline was very ill from 

treatment for bladder cancer, forwarded to Jacqueline via e-mail the draft Nelson IP 

Assignment proposing that Jacqueline assign to the Nelson Foundation the Nelson IP –

meaning all of the intellectual property rights and/or interests she inherited from George 

Nelson, in a broad and sweeping irrevocable assignment and transfer.  (Ex. 6). 

 44. The e-mail communication from Stein forwarded an e-mail from Dorsey, 

cited above, and further stated, 

[A]s Will [Dorsey] states in his email below, that assigning such rights to the 
Foundation is not intended to supersede or contradict any licensing and/or 
commercial arrangements that currently exist with Herman Miller and Vitra, but 
rather to provide a mechanism by which to protect against infringement by 
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 13 

others and also by which to make future decision about issues that are not 
covered by present licensing agreements.  
 
I realize this is a lot to digest and I look forward to hearing your thoughts when 
you’ve had a time to do so. Of course, Will is also available to speak with either 
of you individually or together.   
 

(Ex. 6). 
 

 45. Although Stein represented to Jacqueline that the proposed assignment 

did not supersede or contradict any licensing arrangement that existed with Herman 

Miller, Stein failed to disclose that Dorsey drafted terms in the October 24, 2012 version 

of the proposed Nelson IP Assignment that diverted Jacqueline’s royalties from Herman 

Miller to the Nelson Foundation.  

 46.  Stein sent the e-mail and proposed Nelson IP Assignment to Jacqueline, 

copying only Fehlbaum, Vitra’s Chairman of the Board. 

 47. Jacqueline did not respond to or otherwise acknowledge receipt of this e-

mail.   

48.   After the November 26, 2012, fall and right femoral head fracture, and at 

a time when Jacqueline was very ill, Stein sent her a copy of the Nelson IP Assignment 

for a second time.   

49. This second copy was either hand-delivered to Jacqueline or delivered by 

regular U.S. Mail.  (Ex. 7). 

50. Included with this second copy of the Nelson IP Assignment was a hand-

written note that stated, 
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Attached is a close to final version of the assignment agreement.  What is missing 
are the various “Exhibits” – copies of your previous agreement with Vitra and 
Herman Miller.   
 
I imagine all of your rehabilitation exercises are keeping [y]ou busy, if not 
exhausted[.] So I’m sending this knowing that you already have a lot to deal with 
and so may not have the opportunity to focus on this.  If you do have questions, 
the attorney, Will Dorsey, or I are happy to respond.  In the meantime, I wish 
you the speediest of recoveries and do hope that you will be home soon.    
 

(Ex. 7). 
 
 51. Again, and not surprisingly, in light of her weakened state, Jacqueline did 

not respond to this correspondence.   

 52.   As of the end of 2012, and her move to Maine, Jacqueline still had not signed 

either copy of the Nelson IP Assignment for the Nelson Foundation.  

 53. On the evening of January 23, 2013, at 9:50 pm, Stein again sent an e-mail 

to Jacqueline and Patrice Nelson, copied to Dorsey, stating “we finally now have a 

completed Nelson IP Assignment for you to review and hopefully sign.”  She attached a 

copy of the new version of the Assignment.  The earlier terms diverting royalties from 

Herman Miller to the Nelson Foundation had been removed.  Patrice was not, in January 

2013, a legal agent of Jacqueline, nor was she, in any way authorized to act or make 

decisions for Jacqueline.  Accordingly, Patrice was not monitoring Jacqueline’s emails or 

correspondence in January 2013.  Patrice and Mico were then frantically tending to 

pressing matters, including, but not limited to, selling Jacqueline’s New York apartment, 

moving Jacqueline’s belongings to Maine, preparing their home to accommodate 

Jacqueline, and managing Jacqueline’s serious medical condition.   
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 54. Stein did not copy Mico Nelson on her e-mail forwarding the Nelson IP 

Assignment to Jacqueline Nelson.  At no time did Stein or Dorsey reach out to, or 

consult with, Mico about the Nelson IP Assignment. 

  55. In the e-mail correspondence to Jacqueline enclosing the proposed broad 

and irrevocable assignment of rights, Stein addressed Jacqueline first:  “Dear 

Jacqueline.”  Stein continued, “I’m of course available to discuss any or all of this with 

you in whatever detail you would like.  Dorsey, the Foundation’s attorney, who is 

copied here, is available as well, to answer any questions. He will be forwarding hard 

copies of this material to you as well.”   

 56. The very next day, on January 24, 2013, Dorsey wrote directly to 

Jacqueline, stating that “[i]n follow-up to Karen Stein’s e-mail earlier today, I’m 

enclosing for your review a hard copy of the Intellectual Property Assignment 

Agreement [with exhibit attachments].”  (Ex. 8). 

 57.    At the time Dorsey prepared and mailed this correspondence, Jacqueline 

had been placed in The Lincoln Home, a nursing home in Newcastle, Maine.  She was 

waiting to be released to go home with Mico and Patrice, who were then living in a 

small rental home in Bremen, Maine.  The correspondence from Dorsey was brought to 

Jacqueline at the nursing home unopened.   

 58. Dorsey never requested any information about Jacqueline’s health prior 

to sending the assignment.  Dorsey knew or should have known that Jacqueline was 

incapacitated or at least frail and that she was in a hospital or a nursing care facility in 

Maine for that reason.   
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 59. Dorsey stated in this correspondence that Jacqueline should “review the 

enclosed documents and call [him, at his number in Chicago] if she had any questions or 

concerns.”  His letter also stated, “Otherwise, please sign each of the enclosed 

documents where indicated and return them to me in the enclosed Federal Express 

envelope.”  (Ex. 8). 

60. Without consulting Patrice Nelson (who did not see the contents of 

Dorsey’s correspondence addressed to Jacqueline) or Mico Nelson, and apparently while 

she was in the nursing home, Jacqueline signed the irrevocable assignment of the Nelson 

IP and returned it to Dorsey in the Federal Express envelope.   

 61. Jacqueline did not date the assignment.  However, she did write, “New 

Castle ME 1/24/13,” on a consent form, which was an exhibit attachment that Nelson IP 

Assignment.  There was no witness to her signature on the assignment.   

 62. Jaqueline was 93 years old and very ill at the time Dorsey sent her, and 

she signed, the Nelson IP Assignment. 

 63. Jacqueline’s signature is noticeably shaky, revealing to any reasonable 

person that the signatory was an elderly, weak, dependent person with diminished 

capacity.  (Ex. 8). 

 64. Dorsey made no effort to ascertain whether Jacqueline had obtained the 

advice of separate and independent legal counsel for this substantial assignment of the 

Nelson IP and the inherited legacy of her late husband, George.  Further, Dorsey did not 

disclose to Mico the circumstances surrounding the transfer of the Nelson IP.  It was not 

until September of 2015 that Mico discovered the  
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 65. Dorsey had a duty and obligation, as an attorney representing Jacqueline 

and the Nelson Foundation, to ensure that Jacqueline obtained proper independent legal 

counsel before proposing that she sign away all of the Nelson IP derived from her late 

husband George Nelson to a foundation run by Dorsey’s colleague, Stein, and effectively 

controlled by Herman Miller and Vitra.   

66. The intellectual property rights and/or interests at issue, which included 

all of the Nelson IP, were described as follows. 

Intellectual Property.  “Intellectual Property” means, collectively, in any and all 
jurisdictions throughout the world, and in any medium: (i) all inventions 
(whether patentable or unpatentable and whether or not reduced to practice), all 
improvements thereto, and all letters patent and pending applications for 
patents, including all re-issuances, reexaminations, divisions, continuations, 
continuations-in-part, revisions, and extensions thereof; (ii) all trademarks, 
service marks, trade dress, logos, slogans, trade names, corporate names, Internet 
domain names, rights in telephone numbers, and other indicia of origin, together 
with all translations, adaptations, derivations, and combinations thereof and all 
goodwill associated therewith; (iii) all moral rights and copyrights in any original 
work of authorship (including but not limited to furniture designs) and all 
applications, registrations, and renewals in connection therewith; (iv) all trade 
secrets and confidential information; (v) all furniture designs, lamp designs, 
clock designs, fireplace tool designs, planter designs and designs for room 
dividers (including without limitation the “Marshmallow sofa” and “Bubble 
lamp”); (vi) all ideas, concepts, discoveries, improvements, know-how, methods, 
formulas, compositions, processes, designs, models, innovations, protocols, 
systems, technical and other data, drawings and cost information, business and 
marketing plans and proposals, plans, procedures, strategies, methodologies and 
techniques, and any and all other intellectual property, materials, information 
and data; (vii) all copies and tangible embodiments of any of the foregoing (in 
whatever form or medium); and (viii) all proprietary rights in or to the foregoing, 
in each instance which were developed and/or owned by George Nelson and, 
upon George Nelson’s death, were acquired by Assignor through George 
Nelson’s estate. . . . 

 
(Ex. 8). 
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 67.  The scope of the rights and/or interests assigned included all of the 

Nelson IP.  In other words, every conceivable right and/or interest that Jacqueline 

Nelson had inherited from her deceased, famous husband.   

 68.  The scope of these irrevocably assigned and transferred rights and/or 

interests went far beyond any limited or restricted assignment which might have been 

necessary for the Foundation to obtain the legal standing it needed in order to have 

sufficient standing to challenge Modernica on the sub-set of Modernica issues.   

 69. The scope of the rights and/or interests irrevocably assigned and 

transferred to the Nelson Foundation created ambiguity in the Nelson family’s future 

interest in royalties, which was one interest that Jacqueline, when she had full capacity, 

clearly and unambiguously expressed was never to be touched if she agreed to lend her 

support to the creation of the Nelson Foundation. 

 70.   Through representations he made in correspondence before and after he 

presented the assignment to Jacqueline demanding her signature, Dorsey knew or 

should have known that a person in Jacqueline’s position – even if not of diminished 

capacity – reasonably and justifiably believed, or held the reasonable expectation that, 

Dorsey was her attorney and was looking after her best interests.   

71. Specifically, for example, in November 2, 2012, correspondence 

concerning the Nelson IP, Dorsey stated, “[t]his law firm [Katten Muchin Rosenman, 

LLP,] serves as intellectual property litigation counsel for Jacqueline Nelson (“Ms. 

Nelson”) and the George Nelson Foundation (“the Foundation”).”   
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72. Similarly, in correspondence dated March 15, 2013, relating to the 

GEORGE NELSON trademark and certain George Nelson designs, Dorsey referred to 

Jacqueline as “our client,” stating, “[o]n behalf of  our clients, Ms. Jacqueline Nelson 

(“Ms. Nelson”) and the George Nelson Foundation (“the Foundation”), we demand that 

your client . . . [cease the unauthorized use of the trademark GEORGE NELSON, etc.].”  

Dorsey also represented himself to be “point person for Ms. Nelson” in an e-mail dated 

May 16, 2014, to Modernica’s counsel.  (Ex. 9). 

 73. When he presented the Nelson IP Assignment to Jacqueline demanding 

her signature, Dorsey took no steps to ensure that she was not operating under the 

assumption that he was her attorney and was acting in her best interests.   

 74. Instead, Dorsey encouraged Jacqueline’s reasonable misapprehension by 

suggesting in his cover letter to her that she “call [him, at his number in Chicago] if she 

had any questions or concerns,” without recommending that she make sure to have an 

attorney of her own review the proposed assignment. 

 75. Dorsey made no effort to ascertain whether Jacqueline had consulted 

with Patrice or Mico Nelson; he did not receive any confirmation from Patrice that she 

read, or was even aware of, his and Karen Stein’s communications to Jacqueline; and he 

made no effort to confirm with Patrice or Mico that they were even aware that Mico’s 

compromised 93-year-old mother had just executed the Nelson IP Assignment.  

 76. Similarly, Stein made no efforts to confirm that the extraordinarily 

valuable assignment of the Nelson IP from Jacqueline to the Nelson Foundation was 
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executed with Patrice’s or Mico’s knowledge or understanding, and/or with Jacqueline 

being afforded the right to independent legal consultation. 

 77. In addition, both Dorsey and Stein understood that the Nelson 

Foundation was supported, financially, by Herman Miller and Vitra, and Fehlbaum sat 

on the Board of the Nelson Foundation. 

 78. If the Nelson Foundation needed a limited assignment in order to have 

sufficient standing to pursue the Modernica disputes, the assignment that Dorsey and 

Stein pressed Jacqueline Nelson to execute in January of 2013 went far beyond such 

scope. 

 79. Stein and Dorsey knew or should have known that Jacqueline was under 

the impression that she had been sent a more limited assignment to the Nelson 

Foundation in order to address only the Modernica issues.   

 80. As a 93-year-old person with diminishing mental capacity (who has just 

suffered a debilitating fall and resulting physical incapacity), one could reasonably 

expect Jacqueline to be under a material misapprehension that she was being asked to 

sign a much more limited Assignment in scope than what they put before her.   

 81. As such, Dorsey and Stein, on behalf of the Nelson Foundation, were in 

positions of clearly unequal bargaining power and unfair and unequal knowledge, 

exploiting the positions of trust they had endeavored to build with Jacqueline in order to 

procure her complete and irrevocable assignment of the Nelson IP to the Nelson 

Foundation without consideration. 
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IV.  Dorsey Attempts to Protect and Enforce Jacqueline’s Intellectual Property 
Rights 

 
 82. In October of 2012, Dorsey filed a Notice of Opposition to Modernica’s 

claim that it owned the rights to and/or interest in the GEORGE NELSON and NELSON 

trademarks.  Dorsey filed the Notice of Opposition on behalf of the Nelson Foundation 

and Jacqueline Nelson. 

83. Thereafter, on March 15, 2013, Dorsey again tried to takes steps to protect 

Plaintiffs’ rights and/or interests.  He wrote, 

On behalf of our clients, Ms. Jacqueline Nelson (“Ms. Nelson”) and the 
George Nelson Foundation (“the Foundation”), we demand your client 
Empire IP Holdings LLC (including its employees, agents and affiliates, 
including but not limited to Verichron, Kirch & Co., and Mr. Wu) 
immediately cease the unauthorized use of the trademark GEORGE 
NELSON, and immediately cease manufacturing, selling, offering and/or 
promoting the infringing clock design. 
 

84. Dorsey did not follow these actions with a lawsuit on Jacqueline’s behalf 

to protect her Nelson IP rights.  Instead, armed with the recent assignment of the Nelson 

IP Rights to the Nelson Foundation, Dorsey sued Modernica on behalf of the Nelson 

Foundation.  

85. The Nelson Foundation would not have had standing to bring the suit 

without Dorsey’s procurement of the Nelson IP Assignment. 

 86. On September 23, 2013, Dorsey wrote to Jacqueline informing her of a 

lawsuit filed on behalf of the Nelson Foundation against Modernica relating to the 

Nelson IP.   
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 87. At all times relevant, Dorsey knew his representation of Jacqueline was 

also for the direct benefit of her heir, Mico Nelson.  Mico Nelson was her heir and a 

third-party beneficiary of Dorsey’s representation. 

 88. The lawsuit against Modernica moved into discovery, and Modernica 

served discovery requests that sought documents relating to the Nelson Foundation and 

Herman Miller’s affiliation with it. 

V. Giordanella is Retained  

 89. Prior to the lawsuit being resolved, Giordanella was retained to advise 

Jacqueline Nelson as additional counsel and to assist in protecting her rights and/or 

interests.  

 90. The move to hire Giordanella was triggered by a conversation Patrice had 

with Dorsey, during a call in March of 2014, in which Dorsey informed Patrice, for the 

first time, that he was no longer working on a pro bono basis for the Nelson Foundation 

and that Jacqueline was responsible for his fees for the Modernica suit.     

 91. After Giordanella’s retention, Dorsey and Katten Muchin continued to 

represent Jacqueline in the Modernica litigation. 

92. Giordanella corresponded with Mico Nelson regarding the status of the 

Modernica suit and advised him on settlement. 

 93. Giordanella had numerous communications with Dorsey regarding the 

status of the Modernica suit and its potential resolution.     
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94. Giordanella knew at the time he was communicating and negotiating 

with Dorsey regarding the Modernica suit that he was communicating with and 

conducting business with an Illinois attorney. 

95. At no time, did Giordanella investigate or advise Mico on his intellectual 

property rights and/or interests, including, without limitation, the rights to and/or 

interests Mico had or may have been able to obtain in the Nelson IP, such as the famous 

Bubble Lamps designed by George Nelson and the intellectual property related to those 

lamps, including trademark and trade dress rights.  Giordanella knew or should have 

known the value of the Nelson IP and that they were at-issue in the Modernica suit. 

  96. By his inattention to the case and by his failure to investigate the Nelson 

family’s conflict-of-interest concerns, Giordanella allowed Herman Miller, which was 

not a party to the Modernica lawsuit, to obtain intellectual property and other rights 

and/or interests related to the valuable Bubble Lamps and other Nelson IP. 

VI. The Nelson IP Assignment Serves as the Precursor to a Settlement Causing the 
Complete Loss of All Valuable IP Rights.  

 
 97.  The Modernica lawsuit settled.  In the settlement, Herman Miller paid to 

purportedly obtain intellectual property and other rights and/or interests related to the 

Bubble Lamps.  Herman Miller now claims ownership of any intellectual property rights 

relating to and/or the interests in the Bubble Lamps and the molds and equipment used 

to manufacture the Bubble Lamps.  Herman Miller would not have been able to obtain 

these rights in the settlement without the Nelson IP Assignment procured by Dorsey 

and Katten Muchin. 
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 98. Giordanella failed to advise Mico and Patrice to take legal action relating 

to the forthcoming Modernica settlement.  Giordanella failed to recognize and advise 

Mico and Patrice of the potential for valuable income tax deductions that might have 

been available to Jacqueline as a consequence of the Nelson IP Assignment.   

99. Plaintiffs, Jacqueline Nelson and Mico Nelson received no intellectual 

property rights and/or interests as part of the settlement and currently have only an 

encumbered royalty.  Jacqueline was already receiving royalties pursuant to a 2006 

agreement with Herman Miller. 

100. Without Dorsey and Katten Muchin drafting and procuring the transfer 

of intellectual property from Jacqueline, the settlement between Herman Miller, 

Modernica, and the Nelson Foundation, causing damage to Plaintiffs, would not have 

been possible. 

101.  Although he originally offered to handle the infringement matter on a pro 

bono basis, Dorsey later charged over $800,000 in attorney’s fees, which are being 

assessed against the Nelson family in the form of credits against Herman Miller 

royalties.   

102. Despite repeated requests, Defendants have not disclosed what other 

“settlement” or “damages” have accrued to the benefit of the Nelson Foundation as a 

result of resolution of the Modernica disputes stemming from the January of 2013 

Nelson IP Assignment benefitting the Nelson Foundation.  Plaintiffs did not become 

aware of any improper conduct by any of the Defendants until well after the Modernica 

settlement that occurred in September of 2015.   

E
L

E
C

T
R

O
N

IC
A

L
LY

 F
IL

E
D

4/
17

/2
01

8 
5:

24
 P

M
4/

17
/2

01
8 

5:
24

 P
M

4/
17

/2
01

8 
5:

24
 P

M
4/

17
/2

01
8 

5:
24

 P
M

20
17

-L
-0

08
15

1
20

17
-L

-0
08

15
1

20
17

-L
-0

08
15

1
20

17
-L

-0
08

15
1

PA
G

E
 2

4 
of

 4
0



 25 

COUNT I  
(LEGAL MALPRACTICE AGAINST KATTEN MUCHIN AND DORSEY) 

(Patrice Nelson, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Jacqueline Nelson) 
 

 103. Plaintiff, Patrice Nelson, as Personal Representative of the Estate of 

Jacqueline Nelson, repeats, re-alleges, and re-incorporates herein by reference the 

preceding paragraphs as though fully stated herein. 

 104. Beginning in approximately July of 2012 and continuing to all relevant 

time periods, Dorsey and Katten Muchin represented and advised Jacqueline Nelson 

regarding her rights to and/or interests in the Nelson IP and in the Modernica settlement. 

 105. Dorsey and Katten Muchin owed Jacqueline Nelson a duty of 

professional care and loyalty in protecting her interests in the Nelson IP. 

 106. Dorsey and Katten Muchin breached their professional duty to Jacqueline 

in one or more of the following ways: 

(a) Failed to protect Jacqueline from the loss of the Nelson IP; 

(b) Failed to advise Jacqueline of her rights to and/or interests in the 

Nelson IP; 

 (c) Failed to advise Jacqueline of her rights to and/or interests in the 

Nelson Trademarks; 

(d) Failed to advise about the Modernica lawsuit and detrimental 

settlement of the Modernica lawsuit; 

(e) Engaged in conflicted representation in violation of Illinois Rule of 

Professional Conduct 1.7 and 1.9 by virtue of representing both 

Jacqueline Nelson and the Nelson Foundation; and 
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 (f) were otherwise careless and negligent. 

 107. As a direct and proximate cause of one or more of the aforementioned 

acts or omissions, the Estate of Jacqueline Nelson suffered damages, including but not 

limited to, the loss of all Nelson IP in connection with the Nelson IP Assignment and 

subsequent Modernica settlement and any profits that would have been realized from 

those rights and/or interests. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Patrice Nelson, as Personal Representative of the Estate 

of Jacqueline Nelson, demands judgment in her favor and damages representing the 

value of the wrongfully procured assignment and subsequent divestment of rights 

and/or interests, legal fees wrongfully assessed against the Estate of Jacqueline Nelson, 

pre- and post-judgment interest, costs and expenses of suit. 

COUNT II  
(LEGAL MALPRACTICE AGAINST KATTEN MUCHIN AND DORSEY) 

(Mico Nelson, Individually) 
 

 108. Plaintiff Mico Nelson, individually, repeats, re-alleges, and re-

incorporates herein by reference the preceding paragraphs as though fully stated herein. 

 109. At all times relevant, Dorsey and Katten Muchin represented and advised 

Jacqueline Nelson regarding her rights to and/or interests in the Nelson IP and in the 

Modernica settlement. 

 110. Dorsey and Katten Muchin’s representation included services that would 

directly benefit Jacqueline Nelson’s heir, Mico Nelson.   
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111. Mico Nelson was the intended beneficiary of the Estate of Jaqueline 

Nelson, which included the Nelson IP rights and Modernica settlement.  Mico Nelson 

was a third-party beneficiary of Dorsey’s representation of Jaqueline.  

112. Dorsey and Katten Muchin knew at the time of their retention and 

representation that their advice to Jacqueline was to directly benefit the beneficiaries of 

Jacqueline’s estate, namely Mico. 

113. Dorsey and Katten Muchin continued to represent Jacqueline Nelson and 

Mico Nelson as an intended third-party beneficiary, and their respective interests even 

after the Giordanella Defendants were retained as counsel for Jacqueline Nelson. 

 114. As such, Dorsey and Katten Muchin owed a duty of professional care and 

loyalty to Mico Nelson as an intended third-party beneficiary, in addition to the duty 

owed by them to Jacqueline Nelson, in protecting his interests in the Nelson IP and in 

the Modernica settlement. 

 115. Dorsey and Katten Muchin breached their professional duties to Mico 

Nelson in one or more of the following ways: 

(a) Failed to protect Mico Nelson from the loss of the Nelson IP; 

(b) Failed to advise Mico Nelson of his rights to and/or interests in the 

Nelson IP; 

 (c) Failed to advise Mico Nelson of his rights to and/or interests in the 

Nelson Trademarks; 

(d) Failed to properly advise Mico Nelson about the Modernica 

lawsuit and the detrimental settlement of the Modernica lawsuit; 
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  (e) Engaged in conflicted representation in violation of Illinois Rule of 

   Professional Conduct 1.7 and 1.9; and 

 (f) Was otherwise careless and negligent. 

 116. As a direct and proximate cause of one or more of the aforementioned 

acts or omissions, Mico Nelson suffered damages, including but not limited to, the loss 

of the rights in all of the Nelson IP in connection with the Nelson IP Assignment and 

subsequent Modernica settlement and any profits that would have been realized from 

those rights and/or interests. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Mico Nelson demands judgment in their favor and 

damages representing the value of the wrongfully procured assignment and subsequent 

divestment of rights and/or interests, legal fees wrongfully assessed against Mico 

Nelson, pre- and post-judgment interest, costs and expenses of suit. 

COUNT III  
(LEGAL MALPRACTICE AGAINST THE GIORDANELLA DEFENDANTS) 

(Patrice Nelson, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Jacqueline Nelson) 
 

 117. Plaintiff, Patrice Nelson, as Personal Representative of the Estate of 

Jacqueline Nelson, repeats, re-alleges, and re-incorporates herein by reference the 

preceding paragraphs as though fully stated herein. 

 118. Beginning in approximately March of 2014 and continuing to all relevant 

time periods, the Giordanella Defendants were retained by, represented, and advised 

Jacqueline Nelson as additional counsel regarding her rights to and/or interests in the 

Nelson IP and in the Modernica settlement. 
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 119. Giordanella owed Jacqueline Nelson a duty of professional care and 

loyalty in protecting her interests in the Nelson IP. 

 120. Giordanella breached their professional duty to Jacqueline in one or more 

of the following ways: 

(a) Failed to protect Jacqueline from the loss of the Nelson IP; 

(b) Failed to advise Jacqueline of her rights to and/or interests in the 

Nelson IP; 

 (c) Failed to advise Jacqueline of her rights to and/or interests in the 

Nelson Trademarks; 

(d) Failed to advise about the Modernica lawsuit and detrimental 

settlement of the Modernica lawsuit; 

 (e) failed to take steps to abrogate the Nelson IP Assignment prior to 

the Modernica settlement; and 

 (f) were otherwise careless and negligent. 

 121. As a direct and proximate cause of one or more of the aforementioned 

acts or omissions, the Estate of Jacqueline Nelson suffered damages, including but not 

limited to, the loss of all Nelson IP in connection with the Nelson IP Assignment and 

subsequent Modernica settlement and any profits that would have been realized from 

those rights and/or interests. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Patrice Nelson, as Personal Representative of the Estate 

of Jacqueline Nelson, demands judgment in her favor and damages representing the 

value of the wrongfully procured assignment and subsequent divestment of rights 
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and/or interests, legal fees wrongfully assessed against the Estate of Jacqueline Nelson, 

pre- and post-judgment interest, costs and expenses of suit. 

COUNT IV 
(LEGAL MALPRACTICE AGAINST COWEN LIEBOWITZ AND ROBERT 

GIORDANELLA) 
(Mico Nelson, Individually) 

 
122. Plaintiff Mico Nelson, individually, repeats, re-alleges, and re-

incorporates herein by reference the preceding paragraphs as though fully stated herein. 

 123. At all times relevant, Giordanella represented and advised Jacqueline 

Nelson, through Mico Nelson, regarding her intellectual property rights to and/or 

interests in the Nelson IP and the Modernica settlement. 

 124. Giordanella’s representation included services that would directly benefit 

Jacqueline Nelson’s heir, Mico Nelson.   

125. Mico Nelson was the intended beneficiary of the Estate of Jaqueline 

Nelson, which included the Nelson IP rights and Modernica settlement.  Mico Nelson 

was a third-party beneficiary of Giordanella’s representation of Jaqueline.  

126. Giordanella knew at the time of their retention and representation that 

their advice to Jacqueline was to directly benefit the beneficiaries of Jacqueline’s estate, 

namely Mico. 

 127. As such, Giordanella also owed a duty of professional care and loyalty to 

Mico Nelson as an intended third-party beneficiary in protecting his interests in the 

Nelson IP and in the Modernica settlement. 
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 128. Giordanella breached his duty to Mico Nelson in one or more of the 

following ways: 

(a) Failed to protect Mico Nelson from the loss of the Nelson IP; 

(b) Failed to advise Mico Nelson of his rights to and/or interests in the 

Nelson IP; 

 (c) Failed to advise Mico Nelson of his rights to and/or interests in the 

Nelson trademarks; 

(d) Failed to advise Mico Nelson about the Modernica lawsuit 

settlement and circumstances and its detriments to his interests; 

(e)  Failed to evaluate the improvident transfer laws available in 

Maine and advise Mico Nelson; and 

(f) Was otherwise careless and negligent. 

129. As a direct and proximate cause of one or more of the aforementioned 

acts or omissions, Mico Nelson suffered damages, including but not limited to, the loss 

of the rights to all of the Nelson IP and any profits that would have been realized from 

those rights and/or interests. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Mico Nelson demands judgment in his favor and 

damages representing the value of the wrongfully procured and subsequently divested 

rights and/or interests, pre- and post-judgment interest, costs and expenses of suit. 

COUNT V 
(VIOLATION OF THE IMPROVIDENT TRANSFER ACT, 33 M.R.S. § 1021, et seq. 

AGAINST THE GEORGE NELSON FOUNDATION, DORSEY, AND KATTEN 
MUCHIN) 

(Patrice Nelson, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Jacqueline Nelson) 

E
L

E
C

T
R

O
N

IC
A

L
LY

 F
IL

E
D

4/
17

/2
01

8 
5:

24
 P

M
4/

17
/2

01
8 

5:
24

 P
M

4/
17

/2
01

8 
5:

24
 P

M
4/

17
/2

01
8 

5:
24

 P
M

20
17

-L
-0

08
15

1
20

17
-L

-0
08

15
1

20
17

-L
-0

08
15

1
20

17
-L

-0
08

15
1

PA
G

E
 3

1 
of

 4
0



 32 

 
 130. Plaintiff repeats, re-alleges, and re-incorporates herein by reference the 

preceding paragraphs as though fully stated herein. 

 131. At the time that Jacqueline Nelson signed the Nelson IP Assignment, she 

was of diminished capacity and/or incapacitated. 

 132. At the time that Jacqueline signed the Nelson IP Assignment, she had 

been moved to an elder care and rehabilitation facility, and was residing there in the 

State of Maine. 

 133. At the time that Jacqueline signed the Nelson IP Assignment, she had just 

turned 93 years old.   

 134. At the time that Jacqueline signed the Nelson IP Assignment, she was 

wholly or partially dependent upon one or more other persons for care or support, 

because she suffered significant limitation in mobility, emotional or mental functioning, 

and was suffering or recovering from a major illness. 

 135. The estimated value of the Nelson IP assigned to the Nelson Foundation 

and the rights to and/or interests in the intellectual property related to the Bubble Lamps 

is more than 10% of Jacqueline Nelson’s estate. 

 136. The assignment of the Nelson IP to the Nelson Foundation was for less 

than full consideration. 

 137. Jacqueline’s assignment to the Nelson Foundation of the Nelson IP was in 

the context of a confidential or fiduciary relationship involving Jacqueline’s actual 

placing of trust in Nelson Foundation’s agents and representatives, including those 
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whom she respected and trusted, like Rolf Fehlbaum, who had started the Foundation 

on the express representation that it would not require any assignment of her legal 

rights and/or interests. 

 138. Pursuant to section 1022 of Title 33 of the Maine Revised Statutes, the 

Maine Improvident Transfer of Title Act, Jacqueline’s transfer of property to the Nelson 

Foundation is presumed to have been the result of undue influence because Jacqueline 

was not represented in the transfer or execution of the assignment by independent 

counsel. 

 139. The Nelson Foundation’s agents’ acts or omissions as alleged herein were 

intentional and committed with actual or implied malice so as to justify an additional 

award of punitive or exemplary damages under the common law.  

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Patrice Nelson,  as Personal Representative of the Estate 

of Jacqueline Nelson,  is entitled to avoid the transfer or execution of the Nelson IP 

Assignment to the extent that a reformation of that assignment is necessary to return the 

Nelson IP to the Estate of Jacqueline Nelson; Plaintiff requests that the Court, in the 

alternative, impose a constructive trust upon the Nelson IP transferred to the Nelson 

Foundation, in order for all of those rights and/or interests to inure to the benefit of 

Jacqueline Nelson and her estate as if the Nelson IP Assignment had not occurred in 

“irrevocable” terms.  Plaintiff also demands that with judgment in her favor she be 

awarded the costs and expenses of suit, an award of attorney’s fees, and such other 

injunctive or equitable relief that this Court deems just.  In the alternative, Plaintiff 

demands judgment in her favor and damages representing the value of the wrongfully 
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procured Nelson IP Assignment, damages in excess of $800,000 for legal fees wrongfully 

assessed against Jacqueline Nelson, exemplary or punitive damages, pre- and post-

judgment interest, costs and expenses of suit.  

COUNT VI 
(UNDUE INFLUENCE AND ACTION FOR REFORMATION OF CONTRACT 
AGAINST THE GEORGE NELSON FOUNDATION, DORSEY, AND KATTEN 

MUCHIN) 
 

 140. Plaintiff Patrice Nelson, as Personal Representative of the Estate of 

Jacqueline Nelson repeats, re-alleges, and re-incorporates herein by reference the 

preceding paragraphs as though fully stated herein. 

 141. The Nelson Foundation, through its authorized agents, took advantage of 

the disparity of bargaining power, and was the beneficiary of an actual placing of trust 

in the Foundation by Jacqueline Nelson, such that the Foundation had a moral or 

fiduciary obligation not to take advantage of that trust. 

 142. The Nelson Foundation breached this fiduciary position of trust by 

procuring Jacqueline’s execution of the broad and irrevocable Nelson IP Assignment 

and entering the Modernica settlement without payment of any consideration of value to 

her. 

 143. The Nelson Foundation knew or should have known that Jacqueline 

Nelson was under a complete misunderstanding or lack of knowledge as to the scope of 

the Nelson IP Assignment that the Foundation’s own lawyer drafted and pressed for her 

to sign; the Foundation knew or should have known that Jacqueline did not have 

independent legal counsel for that transaction, and indeed the Foundation intentionally 
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did not include Jacqueline’s known personal attorney, Philip Raible, in direct 

communications to her, even though Raible had previously been involved in expressing 

Jacqueline’s doubts about the Foundation’s purpose; the Foundation knew or should 

have known that Jacqueline was operating under a misunderstanding, or with less than 

full information regarding the scope of the Nelson IP Assignment that the Foundation 

was asking her to sign when she was recuperating from a severe physical ailment and 

was of diminished mental capacity and residing in a nursing home. 

 144. The Nelson Foundation further knew or should have known that 

Jacqueline Nelson was under a complete misunderstanding or lack of knowledge as to 

the scope and consequences of the Modernica settlement; the Foundation knew or should 

have known that Jacqueline was operating under a misunderstanding, or with less than 

full information regarding the scope and consequences of the Modernica settlement when 

she was recuperating from a severe physical ailment and was of diminished mental 

capacity and residing in a nursing home. 

 145. The Nelson Foundation’s conduct constitutes wrongful undue influence 

or duress. 

 146. The Nelson Foundation’s conduct constitutes fraudulent 

misrepresentation, or in the alternative, negligent misrepresentation or strict 

misrepresentation, in the form of misrepresentation by silence when there is a duty to 

speak; or the Foundation acted in the context of transactions when there was knowledge 

on its part that the opposing side to the transactions was under a misunderstanding or 

lack of information as to the scope, impact, or the terms of documents drafted for and 
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proposed by the Foundation, including circumstances where there was a present 

disparity of sophistication, legal counsel, and bargaining power.  

 147. The Nelson Foundation’s conduct constitutes abuse of an elderly, 

dependent person, who was 93 years old at the time, in the form of procuring a complete 

and irrevocable Nelson IP Assignment and disposition by settlement of valuable Nelson 

IP rights from an elderly person without paying for those rights. 

 148. The totality of circumstances compels equitable relief, in the form of 

avoidance and reformation of the Nelson IP Assignment, allowing for revocation of the 

assignment, or such other equitable relief as to that Assignment and the Modernica 

settlement so as to restore to Jacqueline Nelson and her estate the value of the Nelson IP 

wrongfully assigned. 

 149. The Nelson Foundation’s agents’ acts or omissions as alleged herein were 

intentional and committed with actual or implied malice so as to justify an award of 

exemplary or punitive damages under the common law. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Patrice Nelson  , as Personal Representative of the Estate 

of Jacqueline Nelson, is entitled to avoid the transfer or execution of the Nelson IP 

Assignment to the extent that reformation of that assignment is necessary and to other 

relief concerning the Modernica settlement, all in order to return the Nelson IP to the 

Estate of Jacqueline Nelson; Plaintiff requests that the Court, in the alternative, impose a 

constructive trust upon the Nelson IP transferred to the Nelson Foundation, in order for 

all of those rights to inure to the benefit of Jacqueline Nelson and her estate as if the 

Nelson IP Assignment and Modernica settlement had not occurred. Plaintiff also 
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demands that with judgment in her favor she be awarded the costs and expenses of suit, 

an award of attorney’s fees, and such other injunctive or equitable relief that this Court 

deems just.  In the alternative, Plaintiff demands judgment in her favor and damages 

representing the value of the wrongfully procured Nelson IP Assignment and Modernica 

settlement, damages in excess of $800,000 for legal fees wrongfully assessed against 

Jacqueline Nelson, exemplary or punitive damages, pre- and post-judgment interest, 

costs and expenses of suit.  

COUNT VII 
(INTENTIONAL INTERFERENCE WITH EXPECTANCY AGAINST THE GEORGE 

NELSON FOUNDATION, DORSEY, AND KATTEN MUCHIN) 
(Mico Nelson, Individually) 

 
 150. Plaintiff Mico Nelson, individually, repeats, re-alleges, and re-

incorporates herein by reference the preceding paragraphs as though fully stated herein. 

 151. Mico Nelson is the only child of Jacqueline Nelson.  Jacqueline knew and 

intended that her estate would go to him upon her death. 

 152. Mico is the intended heir of his parents’ estate and is named in Jacqueline 

Nelson’s Last Will and Testament as the beneficiary to receive all but $100,000 of her 

estate.   

 153. Jacqueline, similarly, was the sole beneficiary of George Nelson’s legacy 

of intellectual property rights and/or interests.   

 154. George Nelson had named Mico to take under his Last Will and 

Testament if Jacqueline Nelson predeceased him.  
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 155. By the conduct of the Nelson Foundation alleged above, and the acts and 

omissions of the Foundation’s agents (Dorsey and Katten Muchin) as alleged above, the 

Foundation committed tortious conduct in the form of fraud, duress, and/or undue 

influence to procure the improper irrevocable transfer of all intellectual property rights 

from Jacqueline to the Foundation before she died and the divestment of rights in the 

Modernica settlement and without any payment to her in consideration for such transfer. 

 156. The Nelson Foundation knew or should have known that Jacqueline 

Nelson was under a complete misunderstanding or lack of knowledge as to the scope of 

the Nelson IP Assignment that the Foundation’s own lawyer (Dorsey) drafted and 

pressed for her to sign; the Foundation knew or should have known that Jacqueline did 

not have independent legal counsel for that transaction, and indeed the Foundation 

intentionally did not include Jacqueline’s known personal attorney, Raible, in direct 

communications to her, even though Raible had previously been involved in expressing 

Jacqueline’s doubts about the Foundation’s purpose; the Foundation knew or should 

have known that Jacqueline was operating under a misunderstanding, or with less than 

full information regarding the scope of the Nelson IP Assignment that the Foundation 

was asking her to sign when she was recuperating from a severe physical ailment and 

was of diminished mental capacity and residing in a nursing home. 

157. The Nelson Foundation also knew or should have known that Jacqueline 

Nelson was under a complete misunderstanding or lack of knowledge as to the scope of 

the terms of the Modernica settlement; the Foundation further knew or should have 

known that Jacqueline was operating under a misunderstanding, or with less than full 
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information regarding the scope and consequences of the Modernica settlement when she 

was recuperating from a severe physical ailment and was of diminished mental capacity 

and residing in a nursing home. 

158. But for the Nelson Foundation’s interference, including by and through 

its attorney Dorsey, Mico had a reasonable certainty of realizing the expectancy of his 

inheritance.  His mother was skeptical of the Foundation’s intentions and only agreed to 

support it when the founders, whom she trusted and respected, represented to her that 

no transfer of legal rights and/or interests would be required.   

 159. The Nelson Foundation and Dorsey’s conduct was wrongful undue 

influence or duress. 

160. The wrongful conduct of the Nelson Foundation and Dorsey in fact 

caused damage to the estate of Jacqueline Nelson, and, hence, damage to Mico’s 

expectancy, in the form of the irrevocable transfer of his mother’s Nelson IP, such that 

after she dies, the Foundation will continue to hold and control of those rights and/or 

interests without ever having paid any value for them, and the divestment of rights in 

the Modernica settlement, all causing the loss of the full scope of value of the Nelson IP. 

 161. Upon information and belief, the Nelson Foundation has also retained 

some benefit from the Nelson IP Assignment arising out of resolution of the disputes 

involving Modernica, and it retains that benefit without adequately compensating 

Jacqueline Nelson or her estate; further, the Foundation has charged Jacqueline an 

exorbitant amount of attorney’s fees arising out of the Modernica legal disputes. 
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 162. The Nelson Foundation’s agents’ acts or omissions as alleged herein were 

intentional and committed with actual or implied malice so as to justify an award of 

exemplary or punitive damages under the common law. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Mico Nelson, demands judgment in his favor for 

damages in the value of lost or misappropriated expectancy, exemplary damages, pre- 

and post-judgment interest, the costs and expenses of suit, and such other relief that this 

Court deems just and proper.   

 
       Respectfully submitted, 
 
      

      /s/ Amir R. Tahmassebi____________ 
Daniel F. Konicek     Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Amir R. Tahmassebi 
Andrew M. Cook 
KONICEK & DILLON, P.C. 
Firm No. 37199 
21 W. State St. 
Geneva, IL  60134 
(630) 262-9655 
dan@konicekdillonlaw.com 
amir@konicekdillonlaw.com 
acook@konicekdillonlaw.com 
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Plaintiffs

Defendants

Plaintiffs Name Plaintiffs Address State Zip Unit #

0000NELSON PATRICE

0000NELSON GEORGE MICO

0000NELSON JAQUELINE

3Total Plaintiffs:

Service ByDefendant Name Defendant Address State Unit #

114 WEST 47TH STREET NY 0000COWAN LIEBOWITZ &
LATMAN

525 W MONROE IL 0000DORSEY WILLIAM

114 WEST 47TH STREET NY 0000GIORDANELLA ROBERT

0000THE NELSON FOUNDATION

0000KATTEN MUCHIN
ROSENMAN LL

5Total Defendants:

Law DIVISION
Litigant List

Printed on 04/18/2018

Case Number: 2017-L-008151 Page 1 of 1


	AMENDED COMPLAINT
	Intellectual Property.  “Intellectual Property” means, collectively, in any and all jurisdictions throughout the world, and in any medium: (i) all inventions (whether patentable or unpatentable and whether or not reduced to practice), all improvements...


